THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**

SEP 17 2018

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT S.C. SUPREME COURT

Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 15-ALC-15-0033-AP  
Appellate Case No. 2016-000225

David Rose, #91858, ..... Petitioner,

v.

South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and  
Pardon Services, ..... Respondent.

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

Travis Dayhuff  
NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH, LLP  
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor  
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 799-2000

Attorney for Petitioner

Matthew Buchanan  
General Counsel  
South Carolina Department of Probation,

## INTRODUCTION

Issuance of a writ of certiorari and reversal of the Court of Appeals' opinion is appropriate for both legal and equitable reasons. The primary legal reason a writ should issue is that the Court of Appeals' opinion fails to apply, or misapplies, the substantial evidence standard of review provided by the Administrative Procedures Act for the appellate review of Administrative Law Court ("ALC") decisions. In short, the ALC determined that Rose received four votes for parole at his 2001 parole hearing, and the Court of Appeals' opinion reversed the ALC, even though the ALC's determination is supported by substantial evidence in the record. Rather than applying, or properly applying, the substantial evidence standard of review, the Court of Appeals' opinion weighs evidence and reaches a different factual determination than the ALC.

The equitable reason that a writ should issue is that without it, the Court of Appeals' opinion will unintentionally perpetuate the unfair and unjust treatment that Rose has endured since 2001. As set forth below, the Department of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services ("DPPPS") retroactively applied the current parole statute to Rose in violation of *ex post facto*, improperly calculated the number of votes Rose needed to obtain parole, failed to keep even the most rudimentary records of his parole hearing, and then subjected Rose, a *pro se* litigant, to more than a decade of Kafkaesque procedural maneuvers that, until recently, prevented him from getting a hearing on his claim that he received four votes for parole in 2001. With the help of the Circuit Court, the ALC remedied the unfairness that DPPPS visited upon Rose, and now Rose respectfully requests that the Supreme Court issue a writ of certiorari, reverse the Court of Appeals' opinion, and restore the ALC's just and appropriate resolution of this case.

## RULE 242 CERTIFICATION

The undersigned hereby certifies that Petitioner David Rose filed a petition for rehearing with the Court of Appeals, and the Court of Appeals ruled on Rose's petition with finality on August 16, 2018. App. at 469.

### QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Does the opinion of the Court of Appeals fail to apply, or misapply, the substantial evidence standard of review to the ALC's decision that Rose received four votes for parole?
- II. Does the opinion of the Court of Appeals erroneously rely upon the notion that DPPPS had evidence supporting its final agency decision?
- III. Does the opinion of the Court of Appeals erroneously fail to find that DPPPS's final agency decision is arbitrary, capricious, and an abuse of discretion?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

When Rose pled guilty to kidnapping and was incarcerated in 1978, South Carolina's parole statute provided that an inmate would receive parole if a simple majority of the Parole Board members voted in favor of parole. S.C. Code Ann. § 55-613 (1962). In 1986, the parole statute was amended to provide that an inmate who committed a violent crime<sup>1</sup> would not receive parole unless a two-thirds majority of the Parole Board members voted in favor of parole. Omnibus Criminal Justice Improvements Act of 1986, No. 462 § 31, 1986 S.C. Acts 2955, 2990. The current parole statute retains the two-thirds majority vote requirement for an inmate convicted of a violent crime. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-645(A).

In 1987, the Parole Board granted Rose parole. App. at 274. In 2000, Rose's parole was revoked because he failed to report his change of address to his parole agent. *Id.*

---

<sup>1</sup> Kidnapping is defined as a violent crime. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-60.

On June 20, 2001, Rose again appeared at a hearing before the Parole Board to request parole. Six members of the Parole Board were present at Rose's hearing. Rose was represented at the hearing by counsel and was accompanied by two persons supporting his request for parole. App. at 107 & 272, ¶ 1. Immediately after the hearing, a female DPPPS employee informed Rose and those with him that Rose's request for parole had been denied. App. at 272, ¶ 2 & 121, L. 25 - 122, L. 2. Then, in the presence of Rose and his supporters, Rose's counsel asked the DPPPS employee about the vote count, and she stated that four members voted for parole and two members voted against parole. App. at 272, ¶ 2 & 122, LL. 3-4; *see also* App. at 267 ("He [Rose] testified that at his last parole hearing, he received four votes in favor of parole, but that parole was denied based on being short by one vote.").

Even though Rose received four favorable votes out of the six votes available at the 2001 hearing, DPPPS denied Rose parole by: (i) retroactively applying the two-thirds majority vote requirement in section 24-21-645(A) to Rose; and (ii) interpreting the two-thirds majority vote requirement in section 24-21-645(A) to require five affirmative votes to obtain parole, regardless of how many Parole Board members are present and voting at the parole hearing. App. at 271 & 340, LL. 4-12.

After the 2001 parole hearing, Rose filed *pro se* actions in Circuit Court and the ALC claiming that DPPPS had unlawfully denied him parole. Rose asserted that he received four votes at his parole hearing and retroactively applying the current parole statute's two-thirds majority vote requirement to him - rather than the old parole statute's simple majority vote requirement - was an *ex post facto* violation.

In response to Rose's actions, DPPPS did not challenge the fact that Rose had received four votes for parole in 2001. Instead, DPPPS asserted that retroactively applying the two-

thirds majority vote requirement in the current parole statute to Rose was not an *ex post facto* violation and therefore Rose needed five votes, not four, to obtain parole in 2001. App. at 271. DPPPS coupled this erroneous legal argument with a strategy of denying Rose a hearing on the merits of his claim. In 2006, DPPPS obtained the dismissal of Rose's Circuit Court action by arguing that the ALC should adjudicate Rose's claim. App. at 267. Shortly thereafter, DPPPS obtained the summary dismissal of Rose's ALC action. App. at 284-285.

On July 3, 2013, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that DPPPS's retroactive application of the two-thirds majority vote requirement in section 24-21-645(A) violates *ex post facto* and that DPPPS requiring five affirmative votes to satisfy the two-thirds majority requirement, regardless of how many members are present and voting at the parole hearing, violates section 24-21-645(A). *Barton v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole, and Pardon Servs.*, 404 S.C. 395, 745 S.E.2d 110 (2013).

The *Barton* case made clear that DPPPS had been unconstitutionally denying inmates parole by requiring a two-thirds majority vote in favor of parole when inmates needed only a simple majority vote. The *Barton* case also made clear that DPPPS had been unlawfully denying inmates parole by counting absent parole board members as "no" votes.

Granting parole is a two-step process. First, the Parole Board determines whether the inmate should receive parole. Second, if the Parole Board votes in favor of parole, the Parole Board sets the conditions for parole and signs an order for parole. App. at 100, LL. 13-23. As DPPPS's Director of Parole Board Support Services, Larry Patton ("Director Patton"), explains below, inmates who were erroneously denied parole because of the violations of law recognized by *Barton* made it through the first step – they received enough votes for parole – but they did not make it to step two.

- Q. . . . And why didn't we have part two in 2001?
- A. Because this law ruling [*Barton*] didn't take place back then.
- Q. They [Parole Board] didn't know they needed to move to part two?
- A. They were going under the current law.
- Q. Right. They thought the inmate was rejected so they never got to conditions -
- A. Right.

App. at 324, L. 18 - 325, L. 1.

DPPPS implemented the following policy to rectify the violations of law identified by *Barton*:

#### 10. BARTON HEARINGS

The South Carolina Supreme Court decision in Barton v. SCDPPPS held that the Board is to consider a majority and two-thirds majority to be based on the number of Board members present, rather than based on the full Board membership. If an offender's old vote is brought to the Department's attention, the Office of Parole Support Services staff will investigate to verify that the offender did receive the proper number of votes, and the Department's Office of Legal Services will verify it qualifies under proper number of votes, and the Department's Office of Legal Services will verify it qualifies under Barton. The Department's Office of Victim Services will contact the victim and explain the Barton decision and the Board's vote. During a full Board day, the Board will hold a Barton hearing on the offender. This hearing will not require the presence of the victim or the offender.

At the Barton Hearing, the Board may impose any conditions on the offender as it feels necessary, including all statutory conditions. The Board will then sign a special Barton Order of Parole, which ratifies the votes of the previous Board members which would have granted conditional parole. The offender is then treated as any other offender granted conditional parole, and will have to comply with the conditions in order to receive parole.

App. at 222 § 10. This policy creates a two-step process. First, DPPPS determines whether the inmate received enough votes at the prior parole hearing to receive parole pursuant to guidance provided by *Barton*. If DPPPS determines the inmate received the requisite number

of votes, the current Parole Board convenes a "Barton Hearing" to set conditions for parole and sign the order for parole. Importantly, the current Parole Board does not reconsider the prior Parole Board's decision to grant parole.

Q. . . . So the – in the Barton hearing process, the current parole board is not hearing from the victim witnesses again?

A. Right.

Q. They're not hearing from the offender again?

A. No.

Q. They're not hearing from the offender's attorney again?

A. Right.

Q. Because they don't need to.

A. Right. The decision is made.

Q. The decision was made in 2001.

A. Yes, whenever.

App. at 325, LL. 13-25.

Q. . . . So under this Barton hearing process, the agency has the power to determine, after the investigation, whether the inmate has got enough votes in the past, right?

A. Right.

Q. The parole board has the power to impose conditions?

A. Right.

App. at 328, LL. 9-16.

On February 26, 2014, after learning about the *Barton* case, Rose filed a *pro se* action in Circuit Court asserting that the *Barton* case had confirmed what Rose had been claiming for 14 years; that is, that DPPPS had unlawfully denied him parole when he received four votes

for parole at his 2001 hearing. DPPPS again moved to dismiss Rose's case arguing that the Circuit Court lacked jurisdiction over Rose's claim and that the ALC was the appropriate forum for Rose's claim. The Circuit Court deferred ruling on DPPPS's motion to dismiss, and instead ordered DPPPS to conduct an investigation and make a determination regarding whether Rose received enough votes to be paroled under *Barton*.

Director Patton conducted the investigation. App. at 257, no. 1. Director Patton reviewed an affidavit from Carlos Bell who had attended the 2001 parole hearing. App. at 257, no. 1. Bell's affidavit corroborated Rose's assertion, and Rose's previous testimony before the Circuit Court, that four Parole Board members voted for Rose to be paroled in 2001.

A woman came out to the common area where [sic] we were waiting the results (I believe she was the secretary or recorder for the Parole Board), she said "I'm sorry but parole has been denied", we were dumb struck. After a moment of figuring what had just happened we asked Mr. Neal [counsel for Rose] if we could find out what the vote was. Mr. Neal then asked the woman what was the vote count, she gave this to him, then he in turn turned back to us and repeating what she had told him, the count was 4 yes votes and 2 no votes. I immediately asked Mr. Neal how can parole be denied when David got 4 Yes votes out of 6, was this not a majority. He stated this did not sound right and he would be checking on this.

App. at 272, ¶ 2.

DPPPS reported that no evidence other than Bell's affidavit was considered by Director Patton during his investigation. App. at 257-258, nos. 1 & 2. As Rose would later learn, DPPPS's report was inaccurate as Patton had also considered and relied upon a "hearing ledger" in DPPPS's computer that noted Rose had been rejected for parole in 2001. App. at 337, L. 21 - 338, L. 17. At his deposition, Director Patton conceded, however, that this ledger did not, in fact, contradict Rose's claim that he received four votes as the ledger did not contain the vote tally from Rose's hearing, and the ledger was made when DPPPS "[w]asn't

counting votes, right, for today's ruling [*Barton*] . . ." and was retroactively applying the two-thirds majority requirement. App. at 339, L. 12 – P. 340, L. 17.

In a letter dated February 13, 2015, DPPPS provided notice to Rose and the Circuit Court that DPPPS had concluded its investigation and had made the final agency decision that Rose was not entitled to receive parole under the *Barton* case. App. at 270. DPPPS's decision reported that "without any other evidence of the vote count from your June 20, 2001, hearing, the Department cannot release you to parole." App. at 270. DPPPS had no other evidence to review regarding the vote total at Rose's 2001 hearing in large part because DPPPS had, *for years*, failed to make and keep written records of the votes at parole hearings. App. at 258-259, nos. 4, 5 and 6 ("Prior to 2014 the final vote count was never recorded.") & 293, L. 20 – 294, L. 9 (DPPPS has been making written records of voting for "maybe a year").<sup>2</sup>

After the issuance of the February 13, 2015 DPPPS decision, the Circuit Court granted DPPPS's motion to dismiss and denied Rose's motion to reconsider in an order filed on May 1, 2015. App. at 248. In the order dismissing Rose's claim, Judge Addy concluded, as DPPPS had argued, that the Circuit Court did not have jurisdiction over Rose's claim, but the ALC did. The Circuit Court's order included the following:

The court is genuinely troubled by the failure of the Parole Board to maintain any records relating to the parole hearing of June 20, 2001, and the absence of any record documenting the denial of parole, or otherwise signed by the members of the board present at that hearing, is of significant concern to the court. Put another way, if the only evidence in existence is the affidavit of Carlos Bell [affirming that Rose received four (4) out of six (6) votes], and the Parole Board lacks documentation to demonstrate that Plaintiff did not receive the required number of votes, the court is curious as to how a meaningful investigation could have been conducted as required under *Barton v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Servs.*, 404 S.C. 395, 745 S.E.2d 110 (2013). By implication, the Parole Board appears to take the

---

<sup>2</sup> This failure to make and keep written records violated the parole statute and the Freedom of Information Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-40; S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-10 *et seq.*

position that, since all records have been destroyed, the vote must have been adverse to Plaintiff's position - ergo, the lack of documentation indicating denial of parole is sufficient to demonstrate that parole was denied. Such circular and perfunctory reasoning is curious and does not take into account the alternative possibility - that the affidavit of Carlos Bell is correct and that the Plaintiff was mistakenly denied parole under the holding in *Barton*. . . .

Plaintiff is advised to appeal the Board's finding to the ALC. The court would also respectfully suggest that this case may represent one of those rare occasions where the ALC should conduct a full, formal hearing into this matter.

App. at 248-249.

On June 1, 2015, after retaining *pro bono* legal representation, Rose filed an appeal with the ALC asserting that DPPPS had unlawfully denied Rose parole. App. at 153. Despite having represented to the Circuit Court that the ALC had jurisdiction over Rose's claim, DPPPS again moved to dismiss Rose's ALC case. App. at 153-154. The ALC denied DPPPS's motion, finding DPPPS was judicially estopped from seeking the dismissal of Rose's case.

On February 1, 2016, the ALC issued a decision reversing DPPPS's February 13, 2015 final agency decision. The ALC reversed DPPPS's decision because the evidence revealed by the discovery ordered by the ALC, including particularly the deposition of Director Patton, made it abundantly clear that DPPPS had no evidence in the agency record supporting its decision that Rose did not receive four votes, and conversely, the only evidence in the agency record indicated that Rose had received four votes for parole in 2001. App. at 153.

In pertinent part, the ALC's decision stated:

The Department concluded that Appellant [Rose] did not provide enough evidence in support of his position that the vote count was four in favor of parole to two against parole. However, the Appellant did provide evidence of the vote count. The Department offered nothing contradictory to that evidence. Thus, there is not even a scintilla of evidence supporting the Department's decision. Because the Department must provide at least some support for its

factual findings, the Court concludes that the Department's decision must be reversed.

App. at 156.

The ALC also considered, and rejected, DPPPS's argument that the relief requested by Rose was an impermissible usurpation of the Parole Board's authority to grant or deny parole:

By reviewing this case, the Court does not grant or deny Appellant parole, but rather requires the Department to carry out the result of a vote the Board already made. As stated above, it is the responsibility of the ALC to ensure that the Constitutional rights of Appellant are protected in decisions made by the Department.

App. at 157. The ALC further rejected DPPPS's claim that the *Barton* case cannot be applied retroactively to Rose. Specifically, the ALC held that Rose's claim was non-collateral and that the *Barton* case protected existing constitutional and statutory rights rather than announcing a new rule. App. at 157. Finally, the ALC remanded this matter for a hearing before the Parole Board to determine what conditions, if any, should be imposed upon Rose's parole, as is appropriate under both the *Barton* case and DPPPS's Barton Hearing policy. App. at 157.

On February 3, 2016, DPPPS appealed the ALC's decision to this Court. On February 21, 2018, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion reversing the ALC. App. at 448. On March 7, 2018, Rose filed a petition for rehearing asserting that the Court of Appeals' opinion failed to apply the appropriate standard of review and improperly weighed evidence. App. at 453.

On June 13, 2018, the Court of Appeals withdrew its original opinion and issued a second opinion that deleted most of previous opinion's consideration of evidence. App. at 459. On June 25, 2018, Rose filed a second petition for rehearing asserting that the Court of Appeals' opinion failed to apply the appropriate standard of review, improperly weighed evidence, and incorrectly determined that DPPPS had evidence that supported DPPPS's final

agency decision. App. at 464. On August, 16, 2018, the Court of Appeals denied Rose's petition. App. at 469.

Rose comes now respectfully seeking the issuance of writ of certiorari to obtain the review and reversal of *Rose v. S.C. Dep't of Probation, Parole and Pardon Servs.*, Unpublished Op. No. 2018-UP-087 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 21, 2018, withdrawn, substituted, and refiled June 13, 2018).

### ARGUMENT

**I. The opinion of the Court of Appeals should be reversed because it fails to apply, or it misapplies, the substantial evidence standard of review.**

The standard of review applied by the Court of Appeals when reviewing ALC decisions regarding final agency decisions is found in the Administrative Procedures Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610; *Barton v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole, and Pardon Servs.*, 404 S.C. 395, 400, 745 S.E.2d 110, 113 (2013). The Court of Appeals affirms ALC decisions unless those decisions are: (1) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; (2) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency; (3) made upon unlawful procedure; (4) affected by other error of law; (5) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or (6) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B). Simply put, “[t]he decision of the Administrative Law Court should not be overturned unless it is unsupported by substantial evidence or controlled by some error of law.” *Original Blue Ribbon Taxi Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Motor Vehicles*, 380 S.C. 600, 604–06, 670 S.E.2d 674, 676–77 (Ct. App. 2008).

“In determining whether the ALC's decision was supported by substantial evidence, this Court need only find, looking at the entire record on appeal, evidence from which reasonable minds could reach the same conclusion that the ALC reached.” *Barton*, 404 S.C. 395 at 401; 745 S.E.2d at 113. Moreover, “[t]he mere possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent a finding from being supported by substantial evidence.” *Sanders v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 379 S.C. 411, 417, 665 S.E.2d 231, 234 (Ct. App. 2008).

Due to DPPPS's failure to maintain required records regarding parole hearings and DPPPS's failure to undertake anything resembling a robust investigation before issuing its February 13, 2015 final agency decision, the record in this case is admittedly not a large one. That said, the record nonetheless contains substantial evidence supporting the ALC's finding that Rose received four votes for parole at his 2001 hearing.

The record contains claims and testimony that Rose received four votes for parole at his June 20, 2001 hearing offered by Rose over several years in two separate Circuit Court cases (one before Judge Saunders and one before Judge Addy). App. at 267 & 121-122. The record contains the 2014 affidavit of Carlos Bell, who was present at Rose's hearing and the announcement of the hearing result, and who affirmed that Rose received four votes for parole. App. at 272, ¶ 2.

The record also contains testimony Bell provided at a 2015 hearing in Circuit Court that comports with the testimony in his 2014 affidavit. App. at 138, L. 3 – 139, L.7. It should also be noted that during the 2015 hearing Bell was cross examined by DPPPS counsel, and after Bell's testimony, both DPPPS counsel and Judge Addy described Bell's testimony as credible. App. at 140, L. 24 -141, L. 26 & 148, LL. 9-16. Finally, the record includes the fact that

during many years of the Rose/DPPPS litigation, DPPPS did not dispute Rose's assertion that he received four votes in 2001. App. at 155, ¶ 3.<sup>3</sup>

The substantial evidence in the record that supports the ALC's finding that Rose received four votes for parole, described above, stands in stark contrast to the absolute absence of evidence in the record that supports DPPPS's final agency decision that Rose did not receive four votes. *Supra*, Statement of the Case. As recognized by the ALC, DPPPS issued a final agency decision that was not only entirely without evidentiary support, but that was also contradicted by the evidence the agency actually considered. *Id.* Considering the entire record in this matter, it is clear that there is substantial evidence upon which a reasonable mind can reach the decision reached by the ALC in this case.

The corollary of the substantial evidence rule is the rule that the Court of Appeals "may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact." S.C. Code Ann. 1-23-8-610(B); *see also Barton*, 404 S.C. at 401, 745 S.E.2d at 113.

The Court of Appeals' opinion scrutinizes Bell's affidavit and finds it wanting.<sup>4</sup> App. 462, 463. The opinion characterizes Bell's sworn testimony that six members of the Parole Board were present at Rose's hearing – a fact that DPPPS does not contest – as an allegation "[a]ccording to Bell. . ." App. at 462 (emphasis added). Similarly, the opinion describes Bell's sworn testimony that a DPPPS employee reported Rose's hearing results – an entirely unremarkable fact as inmates are always told the result of their hearings after the hearings by a DPPPS agent – as "Bell *claimed* a woman exited the hearing room. . . ." App. at 462

---

<sup>3</sup> Only after the *Barton* case was issued in 2013 did DPPPS dispute Rose's assertion that he received four votes in 2001. App. at 155, ¶ 3.

<sup>4</sup> The opinion does not, however, address the other evidence in the record that supports the ALC's decision.

(emphasis added). Finally, the Court of Appeals' opinion makes an almost trial court-like finding that the ALC should not have considered or given weight to Bell's "hearsay-laden<sup>5</sup>-affidavit."<sup>6</sup> App. at 463.

Simply put, the opinion's characterization, description, and criticism of the Bell affidavit is quintessential evidence weighing that does not comport with the substantial evidence standard of review. Because substantial evidence supports the ALC's decision, and because the Court of Appeals' opinion either fails to apply, or misapplies, the substantial evidence standard, and instead weighs evidence, the opinion should be reversed.

**II. The opinion of the Court of Appeals should be reversed because it erroneously relies upon the notion that DPPPS had evidence supporting its final agency decision.**

The Court of Appeals' opinion appears to find that DPPPS had evidence that supported its February 13, 2015 final agency decision. (noting that that the ALC "believed the Department failed to offer any contradictory evidence [that Rose did not receive four votes for parole in 2001]. . ."). App. at 462. The Court of Appeals' opinion does not identify this "contradictory evidence." The record, however, is very clear that there was no such "contradictory evidence" considered by Director Patton before he issued the February 13, 2015 final agency decision. It is undisputed that Director Patton considered only the Bell affidavit and the hearing ledger before issuing DPPPS's final agency decision that Rose did not receive four votes for parole in 2001. *Supra*, Statement of the Case. Neither of these two

---

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