THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

SEP 27 2018

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
The Honorable Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2016-000225
Case No. 15-ALC-0033-AP

S.C. SUPREME COURT

DAVID ROSE, #91858,.....PETITIONER

v.

S.C. DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION, PAROLE
AND PARDON SERVICES,.....RESPONDENT

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Tommy Evans, Jr.
Assistant General Counsel

South Carolina Department of Probation,
Parole and Pardon Services
P.O. Box 50666
Columbia, South Carolina 29250
(803) 734-9220

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENTS

1. The decision of the ALC was not supported by substantial evidence so the reversal by the Court of Appeals was lawful.

The Petitioner now presents this petition for writ of certiorari requesting this Honorable Court to issue a writ of certiorari and reverse the final decision of the Court of Appeals. The Respondent argues that this case does not fall within the reasons proscribed under the South Carolina rules of Appellate Practice, establishing a writ of certiorari.

The following, while neither controlling nor fully measuring the Supreme Court's discretion or power to grant review in general, indicate the character of reasons which will be considered:

- (1) Where there are a novel questions of law.
- (2) Where there is a dissent in the decision of the Court of Appeals.

- (3) Where the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a prior decision of the Supreme Court.
- (4) Where substantial constitutional issues are directly involved.
- (5) Where a federal question is included and the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the United States Supreme Court.

Rule 242(b)(1-5)SCACR.

The above-referenced rule is not a criteria that the Court strictly abides by in making a decision regarding the granting of a writ. However, within this listing there is only one that remotely applies to this cause of action. There are no novel questions of law which were not properly addressed and decided by the Court of Appeals. This is due to the fact clear substantial evidence was not revealed to the agency so the Petitioner should not have prevailed. The ALC was incorrect in shifting the burden to the Respondent. The Petitioner was the party who brought this cause of action so the burden lies with him to prove that this denial of parole was done unlawfully.

The Petitioner has never revealed substantial evidence that he received the four votes needed to be granted parole. The ALC unlawfully placed that burden on the Respondent, when the burden of proof belongs with the party presenting the cause of action. In administrative proceedings, the general rule is that an Appellant for relief or a privilege has the burden of proof, and the burden of proof rest upon whoever files a claim with an administrative agency to establish that required conditions of eligibility have been met. *Leventis v. South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control*, 340 S.C. 118, 530 S.E.2d 643 (2000). The Court of Appeals correctly decided that the submission of just an affidavit by the Petitioner's cousin could be determined as insufficient substantial evidence to be granted parole. This is due to the fact it is reasonable for the Respondent not to find the Petitioner's cousin's statement credible if it is not supported by other nonbiased substantial evidence.

The affidavit that was submitted was also hearsay evidence and therefore inadmissible. The Petitioner argues that this evidence is not hearsay due to the fact it should be considered a statement against interest. However, no proof has been presented to the Respondent, the ALC nor the Court of Appeals that this statement was ever made by an Department employee, or that this employee even existed. Since there was no formal statement made by an employee or even a description made of this employee, this cannot be determined as a statement against interest. Mr. Bell's statement says he received information from the Petitioner's lawyer, who claimed to have received this information from an unidentified employee. This is clearly hearsay which makes this statement inadmissible.

The Petitioner also failed to present statements from his attorney, nor his sister Kathy Todd who was present at his hearing. No affidavits from Board members who presided over his hearing who could attest if he received four affirmative votes, was not presented. This has been done in other instances to prove the vote count of the inmate when agency records are unclear. If any of these items were presented it could have provided corroboration of Mr. Bell's statement. Since this was not provided, all the Department had to rely on in making a decision is the statement of the Petitioner's cousin. The Court of Appeals found it reasonable for the Respondent to deny parole due to the lack of evidence provided by the Petitioner. Therefore, it properly determined the decision of the ALC was unlawful.

Within his petition the Petitioner request this Court reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals, thereby affirming the decision of the ALC. The Petitioner request this case go back to the ALC so these conditions can be applied, and he be released on parole. The Court of Appeals was correct in its decision that the ALC's decision was not supported by substantial evidence. The Respondent made a decision to deny the Petitioner's request for parole. This decision cannot be

reversed by the ALC without substantial evidence being placed in the record revealing that this decision was made in error. The findings of an administrative agency are presumed correct and will be set aside only if supported by substantial evidence. *Summersell v. South Carolina Department of Public Safety*, 334 S.C. 357, 513 S.E.2d 619 (1999). It should be considered reasonable that the Respondent will not want to grant a person convicted of a violent crime parole when the only evidence presented is an affidavit signed by his cousin. Substantial evidence is evidence which considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached in order to justify its action. *Lark v. Bi-Lo*, 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981). If the Department believed the Petitioner failed to provide sufficient evidence to verify a ratification of a Board's previous vote, that determination must be upheld.

The entire record must be considered prior to making a decision. The ALC ignored substantial evidence in the record that would make it reasonable to decide that the Petitioner did not receive four affirmative votes. The Petitioner received no votes in favor of parole in fourteen years of subsequent hearings. If he received four affirmative votes, in 2001, it is reasonable to expect he should have received at least one vote from the identical Board at his next hearing in 2003. But instead he received no votes at that hearing and every hearing thereafter. Furthermore, his parole was just revoked a year earlier; there was no mention of the vote count or any deliberation as in other hearings that are not unanimous. He also absconded supervision from 1991 until 2000, and eventually found in the state of Florida. The Board is usually inclined to deny parole upon a hearing held that close to a previous revocation. These are factors in the record that the ALC ignored even though this reveals the reasonableness of the Respondent's decision not to grant parole.

2. The ALC did not have the authority to release someone to parole, the Court of Appeals was correct in reversing this decision.

The Petitioner argues that the ALC's decision was correct, and request this Court to affirm a decision that is not permissible pursuant to South Carolina law. The ALC ordered that the decision of the Board be reversed and the case be remanded for the Board to determine conditions for parole. The ALC essentially ordered that the Petitioner be released on parole which is beyond the jurisdiction of the Court. A release on parole lies totally with the Parole Board, "no such prisoner may be paroled until it appears to the satisfaction of the board." S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-640(2014). The only authority to sign an order of release to parole is the Parole Board. Importantly, the order authorizing parole must be signed by the majority of members of the Board S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-650 (2014). Without the signatures of the Board, the Department has no authority to order the release of an inmate to parole. Because the ALC ordered the Board convene a hearing pursuant to *Barton* for the sole purpose to imposing conditions of parole, the ALC made itself the determining body regarding parole. That responsibility was never given to the courts. Parole eligibility is not a matter within the jurisdiction of the trial court, but falls within the province of the Board of Probation, Parole, and Pardons. *Brown v. State*, 306 S.C. 381, 412 S.E.2d 399 (1991). Section 24-21-640 specifically provides for the Board to consider the complete record of a prisoner and delegates to the Board the responsibility of determining if and when a prisoner meets the prerequisites of parole eligibility. *State v. McKay*, 300 S.C. 113, 386 S.E.2d 623 (1989).

Within his petition the Petitioner request that a *Barton* hearing be conducted on his behalf.³ The Petitioner seems to be of the opinion that *Barton* hearings were just a rubber stamp to allow individuals parole. This was never the case. A decision of the Department pursuant to *Barton* was

³ Due to an opinion made by the Honorable Ralph King Anderson III, that the *Barton* decision was meant not to be retroactive, the Department no longer conducts *Barton* hearings.

three fold. First, the office of Board Support Services will conduct an investigation to verify if the prisoner has possibly received the proper number of votes; second, the Office of Legal Services will verify if it qualifies under *Barton*; and third, the Board holds a hearing during a full board day. The Petitioner failed to persuade the office of Board Support Services that he received four votes, a decision that the Court of Appeals decided was reasonable. The ALC erred in their decision due to the fact there was no substantial evidence presented by the Petitioner revealing that he received the sufficient votes to be granted parole. The Court of Appeals made the correct decision in reversing the decision of the ALC.

The Petitioner has presented no evidence of wrongdoing made by the Court of Appeals. There exist no novel questions of law that were not considered and correctly decided by the Court of Appeals. The ALC erred in determining that it was the responsibility of the Respondents to present substantial evidence in order to deny the Petitioner's appeal. Pursuant to South Carolina law, that is the responsibility of the Petitioner-which he failed to accomplish. The ALC granted relief to the Petitioner which was not supported by substantial evidence, so this decision was in error. Since the Court of Appeals was correct in their decision, and the Petitioner failed to present any wrongdoing committed by the Court of Appeals, this petition should be denied.